IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

CORY DEALVONE HUBBARD,

Petitioner,

V.

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Respondent.

Electronically Filed Apr 19 2016 02:50 p.m. Tracie K. Lindeman Clerk of Supreme Court

CASE NO: 66185

PETITION FOR REVIEW BY THE SUPREME COURT

COMES NOW the State of Nevada, by STEVEN B. WOLFSON, Clark County District Attorney, through his Deputy, OFELIA MONJE, and petitions this court for review in the above-captioned case.

This petition is based on the following memorandum of points and authorities and all papers and pleadings on file herein.

Dated this 19th day of April, 2016.

Respecfully submitted,

STEVEN B. WOLFSON Clark County District Attorney Nevada Bar # 001565

BY /s/ Ofelia Monje

OFELIA MONJE
Deputy District Attorney
Nevada Bar # 011663
Office of the Clark County District Attorney

MEMORANDUM POINTS AND AUTHORITIES

On April 1, 2016, the Court of Appeals in a split 2-1 decision, issued an Order of Reversal and Remand holding that the district court manifestly abused its discretion in admitting a prior bad act. The State is aggrieved by and seeks Supreme Court review of that portion of the majority's Order regarding the bad act motion.

Judge Tao dissented from this legal conclusion on grounds that the majority's conclusion is not based upon the correct standard of review. Order, p. 21. In deferring to the district court's decision and reviewing it for a manifest abuse of discretion, Judge Tao correctly reasoned that it was not manifestly unreasonable to admit Hubbard's prior bad act to prove he had the specific intent to commit burglary because many federal courts have held a defendant's intent in a specific intent crime is automatically at issue. Order, p. 28-29. The State is not aggrieved by the insufficiency of evidence claims relating to Anthony, Thavin, or Trinity, but seeks Supreme Court review only as to the prior bad act issue.

The State now petitions for review pursuant to NRAP 40B. The instant appeal meets the standard for Supreme Court review because the majority's conclusion, that a non-propensity purpose for admitting a prior bad act must first be put "at issue" by a defendant before the State can admit prior-bad-act evidence, presents an issue of first impression for this Court. The majority's opinion has statewide implications

because it alters the burden the State is required to meet at a <u>Petrocelli</u> hearing. Furthermore, as the dissent notes, although the Nevada Supreme Court has not yet adopted the principle that in specific intent crimes, intent is automatically at issue, most federal courts have and this would also be an issue of first impression for this Court. Additionally, the majority's finding that intent must be "at issue" conflicts with existing Supreme Court precedent as set forth in <u>Ford v. State</u>, 122 Nev. 796, 800, 138 P.3d 500, 503 (2006) and with a majority of federal circuit courts. Supreme Court review is also warranted because the majority has *sua sponte* decided to raise an "at-issue" requirement that was not briefed by either party.

The Majority Misconstrues this Court's "At-Issue" Analysis and Creates a New Rule

According to the majority, admission of a prior bad act requires an at-issue, non-propensity purpose and "[a] non-propensity purpose is only at issue when the defendant raises the purported defense at trial." Order, p. 11. The majority purports that a prior bad act is inadmissible until the defendant raises the issue *at trial* and then the State may rebut the issue during rebuttal. Order, pp. 11, 13. This new rule contradicts this Court's long-standing, implicit practice. Notably, this issue was not raised or briefed by either side. However, this new rule is ungrounded and misconstrues this Courts analysis in Newman and Honkanen. Further, this rule is

¹ Petrocelli v. State, 101 Nev. 46, 692 P.2d 503 (1985).

one of first impression of general statewide significance and also, involves a fundamental issue of statewide public importance.

In Newman, the Court found that a prior bad act was improperly admitted to show absence of mistake or accident in a child abuse case because the defendant admitted to deliberately striking the victim. Newman v. State, 129 Nev. ___, ___, 298 P.3d 1171, 1178 (2013). Thus, the prior incidents were irrelevant because the defendant admitted to an element of the crime. Id. The only reason absence of mistake or accident were not "at issue" was because the defendant admitted to that specific element of the crime. <u>Id.</u> Similarly, in <u>Honkanen v. State</u>, 105 Nev. 901, 902, 784 P.2d 981, 982 (1989), the Court found that absence of mistake and motive were not "at issue" when the defendant was charged with child abuse because he conceded that the incident occurred. The only dispute was whether the conduct was as severe as the State had alleged. Id. Instead of finding that a non-propensity purpose is not "at issue" when a defendant concedes and admits to an element, the majority has formed new law by finding that a non-propensity purpose is only "at issue" when the defendant raises that defense at trial. The majority's decision is far from what this Court intended. See Overton v. State, 78 Nev. 198, 205, 370 P.2d 677, 681 (1962) ("A plea of not guilty puts in issue every material allegation of the information."). Before, a defendant was allowed to concede an element of the crime

to avoid admission of a prior bad act, but now, the State must first show a defendant intends to present a defense at trial *and* then that the prior bad act is relevant not only for the non-propensity purpose, but also to rebut that defense. This new rule is not only broad and expansive but also unattainable because the State must predict the defendant's theory of defense and hope that it does not change throughout the course of trial. As Judge Tao recognizes, a <u>Petrocelli</u> hearing is not supposed to be based on trial evidence but rather a pre-trial offer based on "what the trial evidence is anticipated to be." Order, pp. 24.

Further, the majority's new rule conflicts with federal courts of appeal because the courts have held that bad act evidence can be admitted to prove an element of a charged crime, regardless of the defense's actions. Sparks v. Gilley Trucking Co., Inc., 992 F.2d 50, 52 (4th Cir. 1993) ("We have held repeatedly that when intent to commit an act is an element of a crime, prior activity showing a willingness to commit that act may be probative."); United States v. Renteria, 625 F.2d 1279, 1281-82 (5th Cir. 1980) ("[I]n a conspiracy case, the government may introduce extrinsic offense evidence during its case in chief to prove intent, reasoning that, although in the end the defense might choose not to contest the issue of intent, the government has no way of knowing that when it presents its case in chief."); United States v. Burkett, 821 F.2d 1306, 1309 (8th Cir. 1987) (the government is allowed to offer a

prior bad act to prove the issue of intent in its case-in-chief, even though a defendant's defense was to present an alibi defense and not contest the issue of intent, because the government must establish all essential elements of the crime in its case-in-chief, the government does not need to wait for a defendant's denial before offering evidence, and a defendant is not required to maintain the alibi defense when the time came); <u>United States v. Hadley</u>, 918 F.2d 848, 852 (9th Cir. 1990) (The government's burden to prove every element of a crime beyond a reasonable doubt is not relieved by a defendant's promise to forgo argument on an issue.); see also United States v. Spillone, 879 F.2d 514, 518 (9th Cir. 1989) (evidence of prior conviction properly admitted on issue of intent despite defendant's promise not to argue it); United States v. Diaz-Lizaraza, 981 F.2d 1216, 1224 (11th Cir. 1993) (The trial court properly admitted the prior bad acts to demonstrate intent even though a defendant claimed he was not involved in the drugrelated activities because when a "conspiracy defendant pleads not guilty, he or she 'makes intent a material issue in the case and imposes a substantial burden on the government."") Thus, the majority's new rule also conflicts with the federal courts where it has held that prior bad act are admissible to prove an element of the crime regardless of the defendant's defense.

The majority's solution is that when it is unclear whether a defendant will present a defense theory at trial, the district court may rule the evidence admissible only in the State's rebuttal if the defendant put the non-propensity purpose at issue. Order, p. 13. Notably, the majority cites to the dissent of Armstrong as support, however, the Armstrong majority held that Petrocelli hearings must be on the record. Armstrong v. State, 110 Nev. 1322, 1324, 885 P.2d 600, 601 (1994). The majority's analysis and conclusion is not rooted in this Court's precedent. Furthermore, it is often not until a defendant's closing argument that the defense's actual theory comes to light because a defendant is not required to present an opening argument, ask any cross-examination questions, nor present any evidence during their case-in-chief. At the time of closing arguments, the State cannot reopen the case and present additional evidence. Burkett, 821 F.2d at 1309; Renteria, 625 F.2d at 1281-82 (Even if a defendant chooses not to contest the issue of intent, the government would not know during its case in chief so "[s]uch proof would have to be offered during the case-in-chief because if the defendant offered no evidence there would be no opportunity to offer evidence in rebuttal."). The majority's misconstruction of this Court's "at-issue" analysis creates unprecedented new law that warrants this Court's review.

///

The Majority's Intent Analysis is Flawed and Contradicts Current Law

The majority claims that under this Court's precedent, "[t]o be a valid nonpropensity use, intent must be at issue." Order, p. 14. But this is an overbroad conclusion. The majority cites Newman for this proposition, but Newman only concerned the general intent crime of child endangerment and cited in turn to U.S. v. Miller, 673 F.3d 688, 697 (7th Cir. 2012), which distinguishes general intent crimes and holds that "intent is automatically at issue in specific intent crimes." See Newman, 129 Nev. , 298 P.3d at 1178.

The majority errs in applying the "at-issue" requirement of general intent crimes in Newman to the specific intent crime of burglary in the present case. Under the majority's reasoning, the State could never introduce bad act evidence in its case-in-chief, but could only do so in its rebuttal case after the defense had made the non-propensity use "at issue." Newman is not applicable to specific intent crimes and the majority errs in relying upon it.

Nor does the majority's reasoning find support in the claimed split in authority on the issue among federal courts of appeal citing <u>U.S. v. Crowder</u>, 141 F.3d 1202, 1211 (D.C. Cir. 1998). The split in authority concerns not whether intent is automatically at issue for specific intent crimes, but whether the defense's offer to concede or stipulate to an element of an offense can preclude the government from

introducing bad act evidence to prove that element. <u>Id.</u> The instant case does not involve any offer by Hubbard to stipulate to intent in order to avoid bad act evidence, and the majority errs in relying upon this case law.

Further, the majority's reliance on United States v. Colon, 880 F.2d 650, 658-60 (2d Cir. 1989) for the proposition that intent is not at issue when a defendant claims the acts did not occur, is not applicable to Hubbard's case. Order, pp. 15. In Colon, the Second Circuit found that a defendant's theory that he did not commit the alleged act removes the issue of intent but "in order to take such an issue out of a case, a defendant must make some statement to the court of sufficient clarity to indicate that the issue will not be disputed." Id. at 659. Hubbard did not stipulate to the issue of intent and he reserved his opening statement. 1 AA 136. Thus, there was no indication of Hubbard's defense theory that would have been sufficient for the district court to presume that intent would not be at issue. In fact, Hubbard changed his defense throughout trial because initially, Hubbard indicated to a detective that he was randomly shot walking down the street (not during the robbery) and then his defense later changed to him being shot during a drug transaction. 6 AA 986-87, 1018, 1023. The district court could not and should not have to predict the defense's theory based on Hubbard's initial statement to the police officer. Because Hubbard did not make an opening statement providing the district court with a basis of the defense's theory and did not offer to stipulate to intent, intent always remained at issue.

Additionally, many federal circuit courts have held that intent is automatically at issue in a specific intent crime. United States v. Rodriguez-Berrios, 573 F.3d 55, 63-64 (1st Cir. 2009) ("intent is in issue when it is an element of the crime charged, regardless of the defense presented"); See United States v. Sanchez, 118 F.3d 192, 196 (4th Cir. 1997) ("A not-guilty plea puts one's intent at issue and thereby makes relevant evidence of similar prior crimes when that evidence proves criminal intent."); United States v. Misher, 99 F.3d 664, 670 (5th Cir. 1996) ("A defendant places his intent in issue when he has pled not guilty in a drug conspiracy case and, therefore, evidence of past drug transactions can be used to establish criminal intent."); United States v. Myers, 123 F.3d 350, 363 (6th Cir. 1997) (intent was at issue even though the defendant's defense was that he did not even possess the drugs because specific intent is at issue regardless of defendant's defense); United States v. Mazzanti, 888 F.2d 1165, 1171 (7th Cir. 1989) ("In cases involving specific intent crimes, intent is automatically an issue, regardless of whether the defendant has made intent an issue in the case.") (internal quotations omitted); United States v. Miller, 974 F.2d 953, 960 (8th Cir. 1992) (intent it automatically at issue because it is the prosecution's burden to prove every element of the crime regardless of the

United States v. Spillone, 879 F.2d 514, 518-20 (9th Cir. 1989) (intent is a material element of the crime that the State may prove by evidence of a prior conviction despite defendant's promise not to argue it); <u>United States v. Nahoom</u>, 791 F.2d 841, 845 (11th Cir. 1986) ("A defendant's plea of not guilty in a conspiracy case places his intent at issue, and intent remains at issue unless the defendant affirmatively removes it from the case."). Thus, the majority's decision that Hubbard did not put intent at issue because he argued he was not present, conflicts with the majority of courts where it has found that intent in specific intent crimes is automatically at issue.

Furthermore, during closing arguments, Hubbard argued that he lacked the specific intent to commit Attempt Murder With Use of a Deadly Weapon. 6 AA 1122-23. In fact, Hubbard's argument on intent spans a total of four pages. 6 AA 1126-29. Hubbard was able to successfully argue he lacked the requisite intent, demonstrated by the jury's acquittal of the Attempt Murder with Use of a Deadly Weapon charge. 6 AA 1169. Thus, it is clear that Hubbard was disputing certain elements of the crime and not merely conceding that all elements of the crime occurred but he did not do it. The majority's conclusion that Hubbard did not put intent "at issue" allows a defendant to have it both ways. A defendant will be able to pick and choose which element of the crime to dispute while hiding behind the

shield that he is alleging he was never present and thus, the elements are technically not "at issue" when it comes to an admission of a prior bad act. This result conflicts with the Nevada Legislature's intention of allowing the State to admit a prior bad act for a non-propensity purpose. If the majority ruling stands, a defendant can always hide behind the shield of alleging he was never there and be protected from the admission of a prior bad act, but also dispute the elements he sees fit. As such, the majority's ruling cannot stand and warrants this Court's review.

Moreover, the majority's conclusion that the prior burglary conviction was not relevant for any of the proffered nonpropensity uses, conflicts with Ford, 122 Nev. at 806, 138 P.3d at 507-08, where this Court held that Ford's prior burglaries were admissible to prove his intent and/or the absence of mistake in committing the charged burglary. As in the present case, Ford maintained that he was not in the neighborhood where the burglary occurred and had not put his intent "at issue," but his prior burglaries were nonetheless relevant to prove intent and absence of mistake. Id. The conclusion that no reasonable judge could find a prior burglary is relevant to intent in committing a subsequent burglary is flawed and this Court has held otherwise.

///

///

The Bad Acts were Admissible to Establish Identity

The district court's lack of finding for the prior 2012 burglary to be admissible for the purpose of identity does not preclude a reviewing court from considering identity as a non-propensity purpose. See McNelton v. State, 115 Nev. 396, 405, 990 P.2d 1263, 1269 (1999) (a district court's failure to hold a Petrocelli hearing does not require reversal if the record is sufficient to determine the prior bad act was admissible). The majority erred in finding that the two crimes do not have sufficient similarities to prove identity. Despite Judge Tao concluding that he would not address identity because he believed that the admission of the prior bad act for intent was enough, Judge Tao found that the two crimes are "strikingly similar and that the 2012 crime was highly related to elements of the 2013 crime." Order, p. 27-28.

Specifically, in both crimes (1) Hubbard participated in the offense with two other people, (2) Hubbard and his co-conspirators targeted homes as opposed to businesses, (3) they drove to the location, (4) they parked in front of the house, (5) they knocked or rang the doorbell prior to entering, (6) once they gained entry, they began ransacking the residence, (7) they stole personal property from the residence, (8) they did not attempt to conceal their face, and (9) they fled the residence in the vehicle that was driven to the scene. The majority's attempt to distinguish the two crimes by stating that one occurred in the morning while the other occurred in the

evening and different methods were used to enter the house is merely a grasp for differences and is ignoring the standard of review. Canada v. State, 104 Nev. 288, 292, 756 P.2d 552, 554 (1988) (the decision to admit a prior robbery conviction for identity purposes is within the sound discretion of the trial court). Driving and parking directly in front of a house and then loudly announcing your arrival by knocking and ringing the doorbell prior to committing a burglary can hardly be categorized as crimes lacking sufficient uniqueness to establish identity. Furthermore, that conclusion could not be reached under a manifest abuse of discretion standard especially considering the defendant is claiming mistaken See Canada, 104 Nev. at 293, 756 P.2d at 555 (holding sufficient identity. similarities when both robberies took place in deserted bars late at night, one person entered a lone and ordered a beer, at least one person wore a mask, and both robberies had armed perpetrators) (the difficulty of a victim in identifying the perpetrators "argues for, rather than against, the admission" of a prior robbery). As such, the majority's lack of disregard for the standard of review warrants this Court's review.

There was Overwhelming Evidence and the Conviction Should Not be Reversed

Even if the district court erred in admitting the bad acts evidence, the evidence was overwhelming against Hubbard, thus Hubbard's conviction should not be

reversed. <u>See Richmond v. State</u>, 118 Nev. 924, 934, 59 P.3d 1249, 1255 (2002). Contrary to the majority's erroneous ruling, the circumstantial evidence in this case was overwhelming. <u>See Wilkins v. State</u>, 96 Nev. 367, 374, 609 P.2d 309, 313 (1980) (circumstantial evidence can uphold a conviction)

An hour before the robbery, the surveillance photos from Rhodes Ranch community show Hubbard arriving at 7:53 p.m. in a red Chevy Impala. 6 AA 1050-54. Hubbard admitted that he drove to Las Vegas in a red Chevy Impala. 6 AA 982. Hubbard called Joseph at his number, 702-236-4175, when he arrived at the Rhodes Ranch gate at 7:54 p.m. and 7:58 p.m. 6 AA 1055-56. Joseph resided at the Rhodes Ranch community, specifically at 64 Honors Court. 5 AA 878-79.

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