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

In trying to convince this Court that the majority opinion was ungrounded and misconstrued this Court's bad acts analysis, the state relied solely on the <u>facts</u> of <u>Newman</u>.²⁴ Amazingly, the state did <u>not</u> enunciate or distinguish the clear holding of <u>Newman</u> which specified that:

[i]dentification of an at-issue, nonpropensity purpose for admitting prior-bad-act evidence is a necessary first step of any NRS 48.045(2) analysis.²⁵

Rather than misconstruing this holding, the majority opinion began the analysis of the admissibility of the Washington crime with this very premise.²⁶

The Petition utterly failed to enunciate any legal challenge to majority's reliance upon and interpretation of <u>Newman</u>. As the majority opinion did not "misconstrue" <u>Newman</u> and also did not conflict with <u>Newman</u>, this Court should deny the state's request to review the majority opinion.

²⁴ See Petition at 4.

²⁵ <u>Newman v. State</u>, 129 Nev. Adv. Op.24, 289 P.3d 1171, 1178 (2013).

²⁶ Order at 11.

Thereafter, the state conducted the same <u>factually</u> focused analysis of <u>Honkanen</u>. Here, as was done in <u>Newman</u>, the state completely failed to discuss or distinguish the clear holding of that case:

if none of these statutory exceptions [motive, opportunity, intent, preparation, plan, knowledge, identity, or absence of mistake or accident] *are issues at trial*, it is impermissible to introduce the "other crime, wrong or act" into evidence.²⁷

In the Petition, the state also neglected to enunciate a legal

challenge to the majority's reliance and interpretation of Honkanen.

Therefore, it is clear that the majority opinion did not "misconstrue" this

Court's analysis in Honkanen nor did the opinion conflict with this case.

It is submitted that this Court should deny the state's request for review

on this basis.

E. The majority opinion correctly determined that other crime/bad act evidence is only admissible when a nonpropensity purpose is "at-issue" through the defense at trial

The majority opinion's secondary conclusion that "a nonpropensity purpose is only at-issue when the defendant raises the purported defense at trial"²⁸ is a correct statement of law.

²⁷ <u>Honkanen v. State</u>, 105 Nev. 901, 902, 784 P.2d 981, 982 (1989).

²⁸ Order at 11.

This conclusion is supported by <u>Honkanen</u>'s requirement that statutory exceptions must actually be "at-issue." Further, the majority's interpretation of <u>Honkanen</u> is supported by numerous other opinions published by this Honorable Court.

Twenty-three years ago, this Court specified that,

the state may not legitimately claim that the evidence was relevant to rebut claims of accident or mistake because appellant <u>did not present a defense</u> based on accident or mistake.²⁹

This conclusion supports the majority opinion's determination that a

relevant defense must be raised before other crime/bad act evidence

is admissible. In <u>Rosky</u>, this Court concluded that,

Rosky's identity was not at issue during the trial. CJW clearly identified him in court on multiple occasions and the police had no doubt that Rosky was the proper suspect. Going further, Rosky admitted in his statement to his interactions with CJW.³⁰

Obviously, if identity is not raised as a purported defense at trial, the

other crime/bad act evidence is not admissible.

///

- ²⁹ <u>Taylor</u>, 109 Nev. at 854
- ³⁰ <u>Rosky</u>, 121 Nev. at 197.

In Ledbetter, this Court determined that,

Ledbetter's identity was not <u>at issue</u> during trial, and we reject the State's argument that the prior act evidence was admissible under this exception. Whether Ledbetter's actions were the result of an accident, mistake or unintentional conduct also <u>do not appear at issue</u> in this case, and we reject the State's reliance upon these exceptions as a basis for admission.³¹

Another recognition that the statutory exceptions are not admissible

unless a relevant nonpropensory issue has been raised at trial.

Finally, in 2013, this Court recognized that when a defendant does not mount a specific defense and the other crime/bad act evidence does not disprove the actual defense presented, prior bad acts should not be admitted. When the statutory exception is irrelevant to the

defense mounted, other crime/bad act evidence is inadmissible.³²

All of these cases support the majority's decision that a defense relevant to the NRS 48.045(2) exception must be raised or be "at issue" before other crime/bad act evidence is admissible.

///

³¹ <u>Ledbetter</u>, 122 Nev. at 260. Emphasis added.

³² <u>Newman</u>, <u>Nev.</u>, 298 P.3d 1171, 1178 (2013)(citing <u>Honkanen v. State</u>, 105 Nev. 901, 902, 7884 P.2d 981, 982 (1989)).

Moreover, the majority's opinion that a relevant defense must be "atissue" is squarely in accord with this Court's pronouncement that "the prosecution cannot credit the accused with fancy defences in order to rebut them <u>at the outset</u> with some damning piece of prejudice."³³

Therefore, the state's contentions that the majority opinion announced a "new rule" which presented "an issue of first impression for this Court" and "has statewide implications" as "it alters the burden the State is required to meet at a <u>Petrocelli</u> hearing" are completely unfounded and unsupported by any opinion authored by this Court. Consequently, this Court should deny the state's request to review the majority opinion of the Court of Appeals.

F. Other state appellate courts, which interpret state statutes identical to or extremely similar to NRS 48.045(2), require that a defense must be raised or be "at issue" before other crime/bad act evidence, particularly for the issue of intent, shall be admissible

In 2007, the Indiana Court of Appeals recognized that its Supreme Court had ruled that evidence of other crimes/wrongs/acts may be admitted to prove intent of the defendant <u>only</u> when he "has alleged a particular contrary intent at trial."

³³ <u>Taylor</u>, 109 Nev. at 846. Emphasis added.

Specifically, for other crime/bad act evidence to be admissible regarding intent,

the defendant must go beyond merely denying the charged culpability and must affirmatively present a claim of contrary intent through his opening statement, cross examination or own case-in-chief.³⁴

Thus, the Indiana Supreme Court and Appellate Court have held, like the majority in the case at bar, that the defendant must raise a defense that places the nonpropensity purpose at-issue for other crime/bad act evidence to be admissible.

In 2010, the Texas Court of Appeals recognized that when a defendant does not contest or attempt to refute the state's evidence concerning intent, evidence of other crime/bad acte is inadmissible as the defense never "put intent in issue." Specifically, in order for other crime/bad act evidence to be admissible regarding intent, the State's evidence regarding intent must either be contradicted by the defendant or undermined by cross-examination of the state's witnesses.

///

³⁴ <u>Maymon v. State</u>, 870 N.E.2d 523, 528–29 (Ind. Ct. App. 2007). See also <u>Lafayette v. State</u>, 917 N.E.2d 660, 662-63 (Ind. 2009).

An assertion of a defense resting upon the State's failure to prove the defendant committed the crime does not support admission of other crime/bad act evidence because it is lacks any relevance in this situation.³⁵

Clearly, Texas appellate courts, like Indiana appellate courts, concur with the majority's determination that the defendant must raise a defense that places the nonpropensity purpose at-issue for other crime/bad act evidence to be admissible.

Like the Texas Court of Appeals, in 2010, the Kansas Court of Appeals stated that in order for other crime/bad act evidence to be admissible regarding intent, the trial court must determine whether the defendant's intent is "in dispute at trial."³⁶ This conclusion was based directly upon the Kansas Supreme Court's statement that,

the crucial distinction in admitting other crimes evidence ... on the issue of intent is <u>not whether the crime is a specific</u> <u>or general intent crime</u> but whether the defendant has claimed that his ... actions were innocent.³⁷

³⁶ <u>State v. Brown</u>, 44 Kan. App. 2d 344, 351, 236 P.3d 551, 558 (2010).

³⁷ Brown, 236 P.3d at 558.

³⁵ See <u>Jackson v. State</u>, 320 S.W.3d 873, 885 (Tex. App. 2010).

Therefore, when a defendant presents a defense, that does not assert that his actions were innocent, other crime/bad act evidence is not admissible to prove intent. A defendant's testimony that asserts a general denial of commission of the act underlying the charged crime does not put forward an "innocent explanation."³⁸

Thus, the appellate courts of Kansas, Indiana and Texas concur with the majority's determination that the defendant must raise a defense that places the nonpropensity purpose at-issue for other crime/bad act evidence to be admissible.

Like the appellate courts of Indiana, Texas, and Kansas, the Illinois Court of Appeals has also concluded that "other-crime evidence may not be admitted to prove intent where the defendant's intent is not contested at trial."³⁹ This Court recognized that a defendant stating he did not commit the crime at all does not require a jury to "wrestle with [the question] of intent." Likewise, testimony by a defendant that he was not present when the crime was committed does not raise the question of intent.⁴⁰

⁴⁰ <u>Clark</u>, 35 N.E.3d at 1066.

³⁸ Brown, 236 P.3d at 558.

³⁹ <u>People v. Clark</u>, 35 N.E.3d 1060, 1065 (III. App. Ct. 2015).

Clearly, the Illinois appellate courts also concur with the majority's determination that the defendant must raise a defense that places the nonpropensity purpose at-issue for other crime/bad act evidence to be admissible.

Finally, the South Carolina Court of Appeals,⁴¹ the Minnesota Supreme Court,⁴² and the Florida Court of Appeals ⁴³ also concur with the majority's determination that the defendant must raise a defense that places the nonpropensity purpose at-issue for other crime/bad act evidence to be admissible.

⁴¹ <u>State v. Fonseca</u>, 383 S.C. 640, 648, 681 S.E.2d 1, 5 (S.C. Ct. App 2009)(in a sex crime when there is no challenge to the occurrence of the physical act itself other crime evidence relevant to intent is not admissible).

⁴² <u>State v. Courtney</u>, 696 N.W.2d 73, 83–84 (Minn. 2005) (when the defense is based on the claim that the defendant did not commit the crime, admission of other crime evidence, specifically to prove intent, was error).

⁴³ <u>Jackson v. State</u>, 140 So.3d 1067, (other crime evidence is admissible to prove a material fact in issue. "A material fact is not at issue simply because it relates to an element of the charged crimes and the defendant has pled not guilty." When the defense presented at trial was that the defendant was not involved in the crime, did not assert that he did not intend to commit an offense, and his counsel argued that the witness' allegations about the incident were not credible, other crimes evidence is inadmissible to prove intent.).

It is recognized that the opinions of other state appellate courts do not control the decisions of this Honorable Court. Nonetheless, they are instructive regarding admission of other crimes only when a defense is presented either through cross examination or in the defendant's case in chief. As these other state courts of appeal agree with the majority's conclusion, it is submitted that the analysis enunciated by the majority opinion is correct. This Court should deny the state's request for review of the majority opinion.

G. This Court should not review the majority opinion regarding the state's complaints that "the bad acts were admissible to establish identity" and "there was overwhelming evidence and the convictions should not be reversed"

NRAP 40B establishes that this Court will not automatically review parts of or an entire opinion rendered by the Court of Appeals. NRAP 40B specifically states this Court's review of a Court of Appeal's opinion "is not a matter of right but of judicial discretion." Moreover, this Court will exercise its discretion to review decisions in which the question presented is one of first impression of general statewide significance; when the decision of the Court of Appeals conflicts with a prior decision ///

|||

of the Court of Appeals, the Supreme Court, or the United States Supreme Court; and/or when the case involves fundamental issues of statewide public importance.

The portion of the Petition, regarding the admissibility of other crimes/bad acts, concludes by asserting that "the bad acts were admissible to establish identity"⁴⁴ and "there was overwhelming evidence and the conviction should not be reversed."⁴⁵ The state doesn't even bother to pretend that either of these issues present questions relevant to the discretionary factors enunciated in NRAP 40B(a)(1-3).

The state just doesn't like the majority's decisions regarding these issues. This fact is clearly evident in the section asserting the bad acts were admissible to establish identity.⁴⁶

///

⁴⁶ Throughout the Petition to state refers to the other bad act<u>s</u>. During pretrial litigation, only one bad act was allegedly admissible pursuant to NRS 48.045(2) - the 2012 Washington residential burglary. When Mr. HUBBARD testified he admitted he had sustained four felony convictions, one being the 2012 residential burglary. However, these convictions were not admitted into evidence and were certainly not admissible as other crimes/bad act evidence.

⁴⁴ Petition pp.13-14.

⁴⁵ Petition pp.14-19

Both the majority <u>and</u> the dissent concluded that the Washington crime did not fulfill the test required for the other crime/bad act evidence to be admissible as to identity. Nonetheless, in the Petition, the state went through the supposed similarities of the facts that it believed established the Washington burglary was admissible for the purpose of identity.⁴⁷

Additionally, the state espoused, in a fact intensive disagreement with the majority opinion's conclusion, that the evidence of Mr. HUBBARD's guilt was not overwhelming.⁴⁸ Review by this Court should not be granted when the purported issues rely upon a determination of the facts.

Plainly the state disagrees with and dislikes the resolution of these issues by the Court of Appeals. Disagreement with and dislike of a resolution should not provide a basis for review of the issues by this Honorable Court. Review of these kinds of issues is not consistent with NRAP 40B's recognition that review by this Court is not a matter of right but one of discretion. Therefore, it is requested that this Court deny the state's request to review these particular issues.

⁴⁷ Petition at 13-14.

⁴⁸ Petition at 14-19.

H. The majority applied the correct standard of review in determining that the district court's decision to admit evidence of the Washington residential burglary was a "manifest abuse of discretion" which was not harmless

This Court has consistently held that a "trial court's determination

to admit or exclude evidence is to be given great deference and will not

be reversed absent manifest error."49 In the case at bar, the majority

specifically recognized that "the decision to admit or exclude uncharged

misconduct ... rests in the sound discretion and will not be overturned

absent manifest abuse of discretion."⁵⁰ The majority also cited to

Phillips v. State as support for its finding that,

the Nevada Supreme Court has concluded a district court's decision to allow evidence where the probative value is substantially outweighed by its prejudicial effect is a manifest abuse of discretion.⁵¹

⁴⁹ <u>Qualls v. State</u>, 114 Nev. 900, 902, 961 P.2d 765, 766 (1998); see also <u>Fields v. State</u>, 125 Nev. 776, 783, 220 P.3d 724 (2009) <u>Lytle v. State</u>, 125 Nev. 1058, 281 P.3d 1197 (2009); <u>Diomampo v. State</u>, 124 Nev. 414, 429–30, 185 P.3d 1031 (2008); <u>Phillips v. State</u>, 121 Nev. 591, 601, 119 P.3d 711 (2005) receded from on other grounds <u>Cortinas v. State</u>, 124 Nev. 1013, 195 P.3d 315 (2008) <u>Cipriano v. State</u>, 111 Nev. 534, 541, 894 P.2d 347 (1995) overruled on other grounds by <u>State v. Sixth Judicial Dist. Court In & For Cty. of Humboldt</u>, 114 Nev. 739, 964 P.2d 48 (1998) holding modified by <u>Tinch v. State</u>, 113 Nev. 1170, 946 P.2d 1061 (1997); Crawford v. State, 107 Nev. 345, 348, 811 P.2d 67 (1991).

⁵⁰ Order at 10.

⁵¹ Order at 12.

After meticulously reviewing the law regarding the admission of other crime/bad act evidence, analyzing the facts of Mr. HUBBARD's case and determining that the Washington residential burglary was not relevant for any of the State's asserted nonpropensity uses, the majority determined that "the district court manifestly abused its discretion in admitting testimony related to the 2012" Washington conviction.⁵²

The majority did not end the analysis with that conclusion. Rather, the majority reviewed the state's arguments that: (1) if the court erred in admitting the evidence, it was harmless because the conviction could have been admitted pursuant to NRS 50.095(1); and, (2) any error in admitting the evidence was not reversible because the other evidence of Hubbard's guilt was overwhelming.⁵³

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